IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JOSHUA HONEA,

Appellant,

Docket No. 76621

Electronically Filed Dec 18 2018 11:53 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v. STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Jonathan MacArthur, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 7072 Monique McNeill, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 9862 P.O. Box 7559 Las Vegas, Nevada 89125 Phone: (702) 497-9734 Fax: (702) 920-8708 Email: JEM_PC@embarqmail.com **Attorney for Appellant Honea**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JOSHUA HONEA,

Appellant,

Docket No. 76621

v. STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

A. Basis for Supreme Court's or Court of Appeal's Jurisdiction:

Pursuant to NRS 177.015(3), this is an appeal from a Judgment of

Conviction pursuant to a jury verdict, in a criminal case.

B. The Filing Dates Establishing the Timeliness of the Appeal:

Judgment of Conviction Filed:	07/05/2018
Notice of Appeal Filed:	08/02/2018

C. Assertion that Appeal is From a Final Order or Judgment:

This Appeal is from a Judgment of Conviction in a Criminal Matter; thus, jurisdiction is proper before this Court.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is appropriately assigned to the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP

17(b)(2)(A) because it is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a

jury verdict on a category A felony.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- V. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY?
- VI. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN NOT GRANTING THE MOTION FOR A JUDGMENT NOT WITHSTANDING THE VERDICT?
- VII. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN NOT GRANTING THE MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL?
- VIII. WAS THE EVIDENCE SUFFICIENT TO CONVICT THE DEFENDANT AS CHARGED?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Joshua Honea (hereinafter, "Honea"), by way of Information, with four counts of First Degree Kidnapping, twenty-two counts of Sexual Assault on a Minor Under 14, 22 counts of Sexual Assault on a Minor Under Sixteen, two counts of Use of a Minor in the Production of Pornography, one count of Luring Children or Mentally Ill Persons with the Use of Technology with the Intent to Engage in Sexual Assault, one count of Lewdness with a Minor Under Fourteen. AA00001-17. The jury found Mr. Honea guilty of one sole count, Sexual Assault on a Minor Under Sixteen. AA2813. After the verdict, defense counsel learned of juror misconduct, and filed a Motion for Judgment of Acquittal, or in the Alternative, Motion for New Trial. AA2814. The court denied that motion, and sentenced Mr. Honea on May 21, 2018. AA2930-2933, AA2976-2977.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The State charged Joshua Honea with over fifty counts of sex related offenses against their alleged victim, M.S. AA1-17. Prior to the start of trial, the State sought a material witness warrant for M.S., as they had concerns about M.S. showing up to trial. AA103-108. During the second day of trial, the State informed the court that M.S. was currently in custody on that warrant. AA337. At the start of the next day, the defense informed the court that it had met with M.S. and had concerns about possible violations of the State's duty to disclose exculpatory evidence. AA446.

During the conversation with the defense, M.S. informed counsel that she had told the district attorney that she did not want to proceed with the case, she indicated she was concerned that she now had to tell the court she had lied at the preliminary hearing and was worried about being prosecuted for perjury. AA447. M.S. further indicated that she believed she had to testify the State wanted her to, or she would not get released from custody. AA448. The State denied that M.S. ever indicated that she did not wish to proceed with the case. AA450. The court sought counsel for M.S. and continued voir dire. AA479.

At the time of the hearing, M.S. was represented by an attorney, and the court allowed questioning of M.S. regarding the record made by defense counsel. AA561. The State asked M.S. if she told the truth when she testified at the preliminary hearing, and M.S. answered, "I'm pleading the fifth." AA563. The State then indicated that it would not proceed on perjury charges against M.S. The State inquired again from M.S. if she told the truth under oath at the preliminary hearing. M.S. answered, "No, I did not." AA565. When asked what she did not tell the truth about, M.S. responded, "Just about everything." AA5645. M.S. admitted that about four days prior, she had used heroin. AA565. M.S. indicated that she had not told the State before that she lied, but that she had told the State she did not want to participate in this case. AA566. M.S. indicated that she testified at preliminary hearing because she was angry at Honea. AA567. M.S. had not spoken to Honea since July 2015. AA1337.

M.S. indicated that she felt the State told her what to say, to a degree, and told her "bad things" about Honea, and that he was a predator. AA570. She further indicated that she felt that she was being pushed to come in and testify and that the State should not be prosecuting Honea because she had lied. AA573. M.S. tried to reach the district attorney, asking the State investigator to have the district attorney Ms. Kollins contact her because she wanted to let Ms. Kollins know that she had lied and wanted to fix "it." AA573. M.S. admitted she had failed to attend

meetings with Ms. Kollins because she was embarrassed to have to admit she lied to someone who had worked so hard on the case. AA577. M.S. testified for the State for four days, during which time she remained in custody. AA1335. M.S. did not have any means of posting bail, so she had to stay in custody the entire time until her testimony was completed. AA1334-1335. M.S. was aware that her testimony would have gone faster had she agreed with the State and not recanted. AA1335.

M.S., whose birthdate is June 30, 1999, turned 18 in the summer preceding trial. AA777. She turned 11 before she started sixth grade. AA778. M.S. attended Johnson Middle School for sixth grade, and during an orientation for middle school, she met Honea. AA784. M.S. did not do well in sixth grade, as she had problems at home and was in the dean's office frequently. AA784. Honea worked in the dean's office and the two began to talk when she was sent there. AA786. M.S. asked Honea if he could help her with her homework if she had to stay after school, as she did not have anyone else to help her. AA787. Honea sometimes helped her. AA787.

M.S. kept contact with Honea during that school year, talking to him about her life. AA789. M.S. testified that the tone of the conversations did not change. AA790. Around the time of Honea's birthday, M.S. went to Minnesota to stay with her Aunt. AA790. During that trip, she and Honea would text and talk about

her vacation and her life. AA791. M.S. celebrated her birthday while she was there. AA792.

M.S. remembered when she got back from Minnesota, she and her friend Taylor had a sleep over, at which the two had a disagreement about M.S. wanting to go be with Honea. AA794. Taylor did not know at the time that it was Honea, only that it was a boy. AA737, 739. At the trial, M.S. did not remember if she met Honea the next day; however, she did tell Detective Lisa Cho in her statement in July, 2015, that she did in fact meet with Honea that next day. AA797. M.S. admitted at trial that the statement to Detective Cho was a lie. AA797.

In July 2015, M.S. also told this same story about meeting Honea to Taylor, at a time when M.S. was "building a case against Josh." AA740. During that conversation with Taylor, which was the first time she had ever told Taylor a thing about Honea, she took notes of what she would tell the police. AA1420. The pair also "smoked weed" and the pair burned photographs of Honea. AA1424.

M.S. admitted that some of the details, such as she and Honea speaking while she was in Minnesota, were factual, and others, like the conversation about kissing, were a lie. AA800. M.S. admitted that, at the time she spoke to the police, she was very angry at Honea for something that now seems petty, although she cannot remember what it was. AA802. She knew that Honea could face prison time for her allegations, but because she was young, she did not realize how

terrible that was. AA806. M.S. did remember that the fight was likely because, at that time, M.S. wanted to associate with "bad" people and do drugs, drink and have sex. AA811. Honea, who worked for the police department, would sometimes get angry when M.S. wanted to engage in harmful activities, and the two would fight. AA812.

M.S. admitted that at some point prior to her speaking to detectives, she had developed feelings for Honea beyond brother and sister. AA1471. Despite those feelings, and despite her telling the police that Honea did not allow her to have relationships with other people, M.S. was shown photos from her freshman year of high school where she was with other men that she admitted she dated and was able to have normal relationships with. AA1475. She did have a discussion with Honea about dating, but was told it was not possible because of his work with the police and their ages. AA1477.

One of the frustrations with M.S.'s relationship with Honea was that she wanted more than he could give her, and M.S. admitted that she was more mature than Honea. AA1482. M.S. admitted that when she was 8 or 9, she witnessed her father having sex with one of his girlfriends, and had a knowledge of sex before she had ever met Honea, or anyone else mentioned in her testimony. AA1414-15.

M.S. knew that up until some point in 2015, Honea was a virgin. AA1483. When Honea lost his virginity in June 2015, to a Brisa Perez, M.S. became angry.

AA1483. M.S. would turn 16 in June of 2015, becoming of legal age, but Honea had started a sexual relationship with someone else. AA1484. While M.S. could not remember the exact fight in July of 2015 that prompted her to go to police, she did remember that his losing his virginity to someone else, prior to her 16th birthday, was a large part of her anger. AA1484. M.S. clearly remembered that Honea had told her about Brisa Perez, including showing her screenshots of their conversations. AA1517.

M.S. admitted that she provided the detective information about kissing Honea, and how he pressured her for more than kissing; however, when asked if M.S. remembered telling the detective that when Honea pressured her for sex, she laughed, and then offered, "Yes. I don't mean to laugh or anything. I thought it's ridiculous how I said this." She further categorized her telling the detective this as "retarded." AA816.

M.S. told the detective that when she was in Minnesota, she texted Honea a naked picture of herself, and Honea responded with a picture of his penis. AA819. M.S.'s version to the police was that when she got back to Las Vegas after her trip, Honea picked her up and took her to the Suncoast, where they had intercourse in the parking lot. AA829, 832, 834. M.S. told the detective that she and Honea went to the Suncoast parking lot many times. AA835. According to the version M.S. told the police, Honea's penis was too large, so he suggested to her that she

use a banana or vibrator to enlarge her genital opening. AA837. At a meeting with DA Kollins, about three weeks prior to trial, where M.S. showed up to get clothing and her social security card from DA Kollins, she said she in fact used a cucumber. AA838. She did not tell the State at that time that she was lying. AA838. She admitted she was embarrassed and afraid she would face a perjury charge. AA906. District Attorney Kollins then questioned M.S., including being Facebook friends and exchanging Facebook messages and text messages. AA906.

M.S. told the detective that at some point Honea wanted to stop using condoms, so she had her mother get her birth control pills. AA920. At trial, she explained that she did in fact have her mother get her birth control pills, however, it was because she had irregular periods. AA920. M.S., around that same time frame, began to have questions from her mother about why she spent so much time with Honea. AA926. She knew that people wondered why an older boy was spending so much time with a younger girl, and she did not want to lose Honea in her life, so she told her mother that Honea was gay. AA926. She stated that Honea helped her in her life more than she could explain. AA926. M.S. characterized her earlier life as wanting someone like Honea to look up to. AA928. Her mother was never home, and her father was a "low-life" and her other family lived elsewhere, so she looked up to Honea as her hero. AA928.

M.S. told Detective Cho that she and Honea dated up until around January 2015, and that everything stopped when she turned 15. AA932. M.S. admitted at trial that she used details of her sex life with other men to provide details to the police. AA933. Two nights before M.S. went to the police, she went over all the details with Taylor, including telling Taylor she wanted to get into court because M.S. wanted Honea in legal trouble. AA935. She admitted that her belief that he would not get in trouble with work was "retarded." AA935. M.S. admitted that she knew about setting up a case through Honea's work with the police department, and through friends who had been through the process, and crime shows. AA973-4.

In high school, M.S. started dating a boy named Franco. AA941. She told Cho that Honea was jealous and that she was worried what would happen if Honea found out. AA941. She told Cho that she tried to block Honea out of her life, but he would not go away, calling and driving by her house. AA942. In reality, she broke up with Franco because he was "doing things she didn't want to be involved in" like drugs and partying. AA943. That same school year, M.S. switched schools, leaving Desert Oasis, and going back to Bonanza High School. AA987. M.S. told Cho it was because Honea did not want her around Franco. AA987. However, Franco was sharing nude photos of M.S. with others at school, including

other members of the football team. AA1429. M.S. told this to Honea, and he became angry prompting a call with Franco. AA1430.

At a break in the proceedings, but still on the record, M.S. broke down and indicated that she was having difficulty watching her taped statement to the police, because, "The video, I put everybody through this and watch this. It's very uncomfortable to me to have to sit here with Josh and his lawyers and the State of Nevada to listen to what I said. To know that it was untruthful and is very embarrassing. It's sickening, ultimately really sickening." AA1025.

The State played the video of the statement, and then questioned M.S. again regarding that statement. M.S. indicated that she did tell Honea initially when the police spoke to her because she thought it was strange and thought he should know. AA1097. M.S. spoke to police on April 1, 2015, and she told them that nothing had ever happened between she and Honea. AA1098. It was that phone call that prompted M.S. to tell Honea the police were investigating him. AA1098.

During those conversations, M.S. remembered that Honea had mentioned that an Officer Zafiris had gone to a supervisor about something unrelated to her. AA1100. M.S. was not aware of the specifics, but did remember that Honea had told her that there was an unrelated issue with Zafiris. AA1445-46. Within days of Honea telling her that, detectives with Metro were calling her asking her about Honea. AA1446. M.S. was in San Francisco when the detectives called her, and

told detectives there was nothing inappropriate about her relationship with Honea. AA1448. Prior to July 2015, M.S. and Honea were off again/on again as friends. By July 2015, however, M.S. was so angry at Honea that her feelings for him turned to hate. AA1103.

M.S. then testified about a photo album she had given to the police during her interview. AA1109. The pictures were primarily of she and Honea. AA1110. M.S. did indicate that the captions she wrote in 2015 did not match the pictures, but that there were pictures of a trip she had taken with Honea in December 2014, when she was 14. AA1111. M.S. indicated she had similar albums of her other friends and her siblings. AA1115. M.S. also gave the detective her laptop, but did not have text messages because those had all been deleted. AA1124.

Additionally, M.S. was shown pictures of she and Honea at functions with Las Vegas Metro employees also present, including Honea's supervisor, Luann. AA1442. She admitted that she told the detective Honea had made her keep their relationship a secret, but certainly that was not true by photographs the defense showed her, which contrasted the pictures in the album provided to police back in 2015, curated by M.S. AA1443.

The State then went through M.S.'s preliminary hearing testimony, almost line by line, having M.S. read her answers. AA1162. The preliminary hearing testimony told the same general details as the statement to the detective about

meeting up at the Suncoast. AA1176. M.S. provided details at the preliminary hearing that she did not provide to the detective, describing the manner of alleged sexual encounters. AA1175-1191. M.S.'s version at the preliminary described consensual sexual intercourse with Honea in 2013 and 2014. AA1250, 1258, 1259. M.S. gave a description to the detective of Honea's penis, to indicate she had seen it— and that it had a dark mole on it-- however, she admitted at trial that he described his penis to her to help allay fears she had over having to expose a mole on her buttocks to a doctor. AA1496.

Around December 2014, M.S. stopped speaking to Honea, and he sent people to check on her. AA1282, 1283. M.S. testified at trial that it was because she had previously disclosed to Honea that she had periods where she had thought about hurting herself. AA1283.

M.S. realized now, at 18, the seriousness of the allegations she made in 2015. M.S. never mentioned to the State before that she had lied at the preliminary hearing, and that was because the State had never offered her immunity, not doing so until the trial had commenced. AA1338. M.S. was detoxing when she first came into custody, and during the first part of her testimony. AA1340. She admitted that her latter testimony was clearer than her earlier testimony because she was feeling better physically. AA1340. M.S. also noticed a difference in how she was treated when she was willing to claim she was a victim versus now that

she admitted she had lied previously and now that she was not supporting the State's version. AA1341.

Prior to M.S. admitting that her allegations were lies, the district attorney provided her with food, friended her on Facebook, and offered to find her a place to live. AA1343. This included a hotel to stay in for trial, as well as helping her get into rehab for a few days. AA1344. M.S. told the district attorney that the did not want to proceed with the trial, and declined any help. AA1344-1345. The State, however, proceeded with prosecuting Honea. AA1345.

M.S. admitted that she had manipulated much of the situation with Honea, and that the district attorney was the person claiming Honea was an abuser. AA1347. M.S. agreed that the district attorney was using her to prosecute Honea. AA1349. She admitted that she had run through her story a few times by the time she testified at preliminary hearing, in 2015, but that despite running through it, she still could not keep the details straight. AA1487. It was harder, according to M.S., to keep the details of a lie straight than it would be to keep the truth straight. AA1487.

Detective Igor Dicaro, with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, testified that on March 29, 2015, he received information about some concerns with a Metro employee. AA1557. The information came from a Sergeant Clark, who relayed that there were concerns that Honea was having a romantic

relationship with a woman under the age of 16. AA1559. Based on that information, Dicaro spoke to M.S.'s mother, who told them that the relationship between M.S. and Honea was a friendship, but that she thought Honea was obsessive. AA1563. Dicaro also spoke to co-workers of Honea, who told him that some of them did not know M.S. but did know the two were friends. AA1564. The co-workers also indicated that none of them ever saw the two in any type of interaction between M.S. and Honea that would indicate a romantic relationship. AA1564.

Dicaro also contacted M.S., who told Dicaro that her relationship with Honea was that of a brother and sister, and that she had never felt harassed by Honea. AA1565. M.S. also told Dicaro that she did feel badly for not speaking with Honea much lately, because he was always willing to give her advice and help her along the right path. AA1566. On April 1, 2015, Dicaro informed M.S.'s mother that if she felt harassed by Honea, she should contact police. AA1566. Pam Savage, M.S.'s mother did not want to file a report. AA1566.

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