### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\_\_\_\_

Electronically Filed Feb 20 2019 08:48 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

JOSHUA HONEA,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 76621

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

JONATHAN MACARTHUR, ESQ. Nevada Bar #007072 MONIQUE MCNEILL, ESQ. Nevada Bar #009862 PO Box 7559 Las Vegas, Nevada 89125 (702) 497-9734

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

determined to convict Appellant. <u>Id.</u> Thus, Appellant is not claiming that the content of the news article improperly influenced the jury verdict—it is Juror 1's conduct of seeking out the article. However, the limited inquiry here is how Juror 1's access to the news article could have improperly influenced an average, hypothetical juror. The neutral source of the extrinsic material has minimal danger of influencing the jury verdict. This factor favors upholding the jury verdict.

Second, the jury did not spend any time on the article at all because even the declarations of Appellant's counsel only stated that Juror 1 briefly referenced it during deliberation. 13 AA 3143, 3146. In fact, the declarations from Jurors 7 and 11 stated that the news article was never shown to the jury. 13 AA 3148, 3150. Therefore, the evidence shows that the jury did not spend any time reading the article. Accordingly, this factor favors upholding the jury verdict.

Third, an examination of the news article shows that its content was merely an account of the evidence that were adduced at trial. See 13 AA 3153. In fact, every single quotation in the news article is taken directly from trial, mostly from M.S.'s testimony and parties' closing argument. Thus, the news article did not contain any information that was not in the record. Accordingly, the district court properly concluded that the news article "could in no way be viewed as prejudice to the Defendant." 13 AA 3247. This factor favors upholding the jury verdict.

Appellant does not offer any cogent argument to show that the jury verdict was improperly influenced. Appellant's arguments do not apply the law. First, despite citing to Meyer, Appellant does not offer any analysis on the enumerated factors the district court may consider. Instead, Appellant boldly claims that "any juror who was deliberating would naturally have been influenced by the certainty of someone who seemed to have outside information." AOB, 42. This conclusory statement is illogical and offers nothing even slightly relevant to the Meyer factors. Furthermore, Appellant's arguments require the admission of matters and statements that took place during Juror 1's participation in jury deliberations. However, Appellant offers nothing to show how the district court abused its discretion in striking those statements. Thus, Appellant has not cogently argued the issue. Maresca v. State, 103 Nev. 669, 673, 748 P.2d 3, 6 (1987). Accordingly, Appellant cannot show that the district court abused its discretion in denying his oral request for an evidentiary hearing and Motion for a New Trial.

## ii. <u>Juror 3's nondisclosure of his sister's Facebook friendship with M.S.</u> was not a juror misconduct

Appellant's investigator discovered that Juror 3 had a sister who was a Facebook friend of M.S. 13 AA 3143-44. Appellant argued below that Juror 3's failure to disclose his sister's Facebook friendship with M.S. is a juror misconduct that warranted a new trial. 13 AA 3139-40. At very least, Appellant argued that the district court should hold an evidentiary hearing to find out the extent of M.S.

relationship with Juror 3's sister. 13 AA 3237. The State opposed and argued that, other than speculation, there is no evidence that Juror 3 even knew of his sister's Facebook relationship with M.S. 13 AA 3220. The district court denied Appellant's Motion for a New Trial and his oral request for an evidentiary hearing. 13 AA 3247.

The district court properly denied Appellant's request that was based on speculation. To prevail on a motion for a new trial based on juror misconduct during voir dire, Appellant must show (1) "that a juror failed to answer honestly a material question on voir dire," and (2) "that a correct response would have provided a valid basis for a challenge for cause." <u>Brioady v. State</u>, 396 P.3d 822, 824 (2017) (quoting McDonough Power Equip., Inc. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S. 548, 556, 104 S. Ct. 845 (1984)).

The first prong of this inquiry requires the showing that the motives for answering falsely are those that affect a juror's impartiality. Brioady, 396 P.3d at 824. Generally, this prong is satisfied when the concealment is intentional. Id. at 825. But this prong is not satisfied when the concealment is the result of simple forgetfulness. Id.; See also United State v. Edmond, 43 F.3d 472, 473 (9th Cir. 1994) (holding that a juror's failure to disclose that he was a victim of armed robbery 26 years earlier because he simply forgot to mention it is insufficient to require a new trial.). A district court's order denying a new trial for juror misconduct during voir

dire is reviewed for abuse of discretion. <u>Lopez v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 68, 89, 769 P.2d 1276, 1290 (1989).

Many jurisdictions have held that friendships on social networking websites do not constitute disqualifying relationship. The Kentucky Supreme Court held that "friendships on Facebook and other similar social networking websites do not necessarily carry the same weight as true friendships or relationship in the community, which are generally the concern during voir dire." McGaha v. Com., 414 S.W. 3d 1, 6 (2013). The relevant inquiry "is the extent of the interaction and the scope of the relationship." Id. Thus, the Kentucky Supreme Court held that a Juror's failure to disclose his Facebook friendship with the victim's wife, without more, did not warrant a new trial. Id. at 7. Similarly, the Indiana Court of Appeals held that a juror's failure to disclose during voir dire that rape victim's sibling was among her friends was not a misconduct that warrants a new trial. Slaybaugh v. State, 44 N.E.3d, 111, 118-19 (2015). Finally, the California Supreme Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion for refusing to hold an evidentiary hearing on the issue of jury misconduct during voir dire because the only allegation was that a juror was a school counselor where the victim's daughter attended. People v. Ray, 13 Cal. 4th 313, 343-44; 914 P.2d 846, 863 (1996).

In this case, there is no evidence to suggest that Juror 3 intentionally concealed any information during voir dire. Appellant is speculating that Juror 3 must know

M.S. because Juror 3's sister is a Facebook friend of M.S. AOB, 44. The "relationship" is far more removed than the "relationships" in McGaha, Slaybaugh, and Ray, where nondisclosure of a third-degree relationship was insufficient to warrant a new trial. Furthermore, Juror 3 did not recognize any names after the State and Appellant's counsel read their lists of potential witnesses. 1 AA 125-26. What Appellant is proposing is the unreasonable request that every potential juror must be familiar with all their family members' friends on Facebook. Accordingly, Juror 3 did not commit any misconduct during voir dire.

Appellant's reliance on <u>Canada v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 938, 944 P.2d 781 (1997), and impermissible statements during jury deliberation is inapposite. The juror in <u>Canada</u> concealed information about his father's death, his repeated victimization by organized crime, and gave inconsistent voir dire answers. 113 Nev. at 941, 944 P.2d at 783. The crime in <u>Canada</u> was conspiracy to murder and related to organized crimes, which was directly relevant to the information that the juror concealed. <u>Id.</u> This court held that the numerous crimes of which the juror claimed to be a victim and his inconsistent voir dire answers demonstrated intentional concealment. <u>Id.</u> Thus, <u>Canada</u> was a case where the facts strongly indicated the juror had intentionally concealed critical information about himself. The instant case is fundamentally different because the allegation is that Juror 3 failed to disclose his

sister's tenuous Facebook friendship with the victim. Thus, Appellant failed to establish that Juror 3 had committed misconduct during voir dire.

Because Appellant offered nothing to show Juror 3 had committed misconduct during voir dire, the district court did not abuse its discretion by denying the request for an evidentiary hearing. Not every allegation of jury misconduct requires a hearing. <u>U.S v. Montes</u>, 628 F.3d 1183, 1187 (9th Cir. 2011). A hearing is not required if the seriousness of the alleged misconduct or bias is minimal and that the content of the allegations could not have prejudiced the defendant. <u>Id.</u> at 1187-88; <u>see also People v. Ray</u>, 13 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 313, 344, 914 P.2d 846, 863 (1996) ("a hearing is required only where the court possess information which, if prove to be true, would constitute 'good cause' to doubt a juror's ability to perform his duties . . .).

Here, the district court determined that an evidentiary hearing was not warranted because there was no good reason to hold one. It is puzzling how a potential juror can be expected of knowing all the Facebook friends of a family member. In fact, Appellant states "counsel cannot determine when [Juror 3] became aware that his sister was Facebook friends with M.S." AOB 45-46. Thus, it is only Appellant's speculation that Juror 3 is even aware of M.S.'s Facebook friendship with M.S. The seriousness of the alleged misconduct is not just minimal, it is nonexistent. Even if Juror 3 was aware of his sister's Facebook friendship with M.S.,

Appellant offers nothing to show that his ability to perform his jury duties can be doubted. Ultimately, Juror 3 acquitted Appellant of 40 counts of crimes and there was no evidence that he could not be impartial. 13 AA 3128. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's request for an evidentiary hearing.

iii. Appellant was not entitled to a new trial under State v. Purcell because there was no conflicting evidence

Under State v. Purcell, a district court may order a new trial if it determines that the evidence of guilt was conflicting, the victim's testimony was inconsistent, and the victim had a motive to fabricate. 110 Nev. 1389, 1392, 887 P.2d 276, 277-78 (1994). In essence, a motion for a new trial based on conflicting evidence is a claim challenging the sufficiency of the evidence. See McMahon v. State, 125 Nev. 1061, 281 P.3d 1200 (2009). As discussed below, evidence of Appellant's guilt is overwhelming. See infra Section IV. Furthermore, Purcell is distinguishable. Unlike <u>Purcell</u>, where the victim was the State's only witness, here, the State presented forensic evidence from Appellant's and the victim's electronic devices, corroborating evidence from the victim's best friend since elementary school, and an expert who testified about Appellant's control and manipulation of M.S. 110 Nev. at 1391-92, 887 P.2d at 277; see infra Section IV. The only conflicting evidence is M.S.'s recanted testimony. However, as the district court indicated, M.S. recanted testimony, when juxtaposed with the strong circumstantial evidence and M.S.'s prior testimony under oath, is insufficient to warrant a new trial. 13 AA 3246; see infra Section IV. Accordingly, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's Motion for a New Trial based on a claim of conflicting evidence.

#### IV. EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT'S GUILT WAS OVERWHELMING

When reviewing a sufficiency-of-the-evidence claim, the relevant inquiry is not whether the court is convinced of the Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Wilkins v. State, 96 Nev. 367, 374, 609 P.2d 309, 313 (1980). Rather, when the jury has already found the Appellant guilty, the limited inquiry is "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Milton v. State, 111 Nev. 1487, 1491, 908 P.2d 684, 686–87 (1995) (internal quotation and citation omitted).

Here, the State offered an overwhelming amount of evidence proving Appellant was guilty of sexual assault with a minor under 16 years of age on or about June 30, 2013, to December 31, 2014. 1 AA 12.

First, the State demonstrated to the jury that Appellant began to control and manipulate M.S. when she was only 11 years old. 5 AA 1323. John Pacult testified that "it seemed to be almost every aspect of her life was under (Appellant's) control. 7 AA 1651. Appellant attempted to keep his relationship with M.S. a secret. 7 AA 1658. In fact, M.S.'s best friend since elementary school, Taylor Roberts, was

surprised when she found out how early M.S. started her relationship with Appellant. 3 AA 734, 741. Taylor deemed M.S.'s relationship with Appellant unhealthy because during summer of 2015, Appellant consistently called M.S. even though she did not sound enthusiastic in talking with him. 3 AA 741, 742. Pacult also testified that a minor sexual victim's "recantation is an element of sexual abuse because it becomes so overwhelming for the child to have to deal with it. .." 7 AA 1652. Also, Pacult was certain about Appellant's effort to groom M.S. and testified that Appellant engaged in "continued efforts to make contact with [M.S.] to regain power and control of the relationship, the sexual contact." 7 AA 1644-45, 1657. M.S. did not have the ability to refuse Appellant's grooming efforts. 7 AA 1659.

Second, between September 2013 and December 2013, Appellant would pick M.S. up from her high school to go to her house. 6 AA 1286-87. Appellant would then sexually assault M.S. by having penis-vagina sex while M.S.'s mom was at work. 6 AA 1287. This occurred almost every day. 6 AA 1288. M.S. testified about a specific sexual assault incident where M.S. took a shower upstairs. 6 AA 1287. Appellant then had penis-vagina sex with M.S. <u>Id.</u>

Third, M.S. testified about another similar incident where Appellant was waiting for her in the room undressed while she was taking shower at home. 6 AA 1288. When M.S. finished, Appellant tongue kissed M.S. and put his penis inside of

her mouth. Id. Appellant also put his mouth on M.S.'s vagina. Id. Appellant then penetrated M.S.'s vagina with his penis. Id.

Fourth, M.S. testified that Appellant took her to the strip where they ended up at Excalibur Casino. 6 AA 1288-89. M.S. indicated that Appellant took her to his car's backseat and he placed his penis inside of her mouth and had penis-vagina sex with her. 6 AA 1289.

Fifth, the credibility of M.S.'s recanted testimony is tarnished and the State offered corroboration to M.S.'s original account of the events. M.S.'s best friend Taylor Roberts testified that M.S. told her about the whole situation in the summer of 2015. 3 AA 745-48. Not only did M.S. tell Taylor about her relationship with Appellant, they went through photo albums and texts. 3 AA 748. Taylor also explained why that M.S. said she loved Appellant and did not want to hurt him. 3 AA 749. Additionally, forensics recovered pictures of M.S. with Appellant, a picture of M.S. kissing Appellant's cheek, a picture of Appellant and M.S. kissing on the lips, and pictures of M.S. from Appellant's iPad. 8 AA 1763-65, 1812. There was also a selfie photo that showed Appellant placing his right hand over M.S.'s buttock while she is kissing him. 8 AA 1767. Thus, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, evidence of Appellant's guilt was overwhelming.

///

///

## V. ANY ERROR IS HARMLESS BECAUSE EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT'S GUILT WAS OVERWHELMING

Appellant's conviction must be affirmed under a harmless-error standard of review because he cannot show any of his substantial rights was prejudiced. Furthermore, given the extensive and compelling evidence at trial, any rational jury would have found Appellant guilty.

NRS 178.598 provides that "[a]ny error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." Constitutional error is harmless when "it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." Tavares v. State, 117 Nev. 725, 732 n.14, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 n. 14 (2001) (quoting Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 3, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 1830 (1999)). Non-constitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness based on whether it had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict. Knipes v. State, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008). Here, the State presented extensive and compelling evidence proving Appellant's guilt. See Supra Section IV. Thus, any error would not have any injurious effect on jury's verdict. Accordingly, Appellant's conviction must be affirmed

### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirms Appellant Joshua Honea's Judgment of Conviction.